No. 32912-7-III

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

BENTON COUNTY

V.

DONNA ZINK

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS DONNA ZINK

DONNA ZINK
Pro Se Appellant
P.O. Box 263
Mesa, WA 99343
(509) 265-4417
dzink@centurytel.net
jeffzink@centurytel.net

INTRODUCTION

On October 10, 2015, Declaratory Judgment was granted to Benton County by the Benton County Superior Court under Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (UDJA) (Chapter 7.24 RCW). Benton County argued to the trial court that while the Public Records Act (PRA) (Chapter 42.56 RCW) mandates agencies use their resources to provide hard paper copies, the PRA does not require an agency to use agency resources to provide copies of public records in electronic format. Further Benton County argued that the UDJA is a standalone statute authorizing a trial court to render Declaratory Judgment without citation to a specific statute. Based on the arguments and evidence submitted by Benton County, the trial court found that:

¹ Agency facilities shall be made available to any person for the copying of public records except when and to the extent that this would unreasonably disrupt the operations of the agency. RCW 42.56.080 (emphasis added)

A reasonable charge may be imposed for providing copies of public records and for the use by any person of agency equipment or equipment ... which charges shall not exceed the amount necessary to reimburse the agency ... for its actual costs directly incident to such copying. RCW 42.56.120 (emphasis added).

In determining the actual per page cost for providing photocopies of public records, an agency may include all costs directly incident to copying such public records including the actual cost of the paper and the per page cost for use of agency copying equipment. RCW 42.56.070(7)(a)(emphasis added).

In determining the actual per page cost or other costs for providing copies of public records, an agency may not include staff salaries, benefits, or other general administrative or overhead charges, unless those costs are directly related to the actual cost of copying the public records. Staff time to copy and mail the requested public records may be included in an agency's costs. RCW 42.56.070(7)(b)(emphasis added).

An agency need not calculate the actual per page cost or other costs it charges for providing photocopies of public records if to do so would be unduly burdensome, but in that event: The agency may not charge in excess of fifteen cents per page for photocopies of public records or for the use of agency equipment to photocopy public records. RCW 42.56.070(8)(emphasis added).

- An agency is <u>only required</u> to use public resources to make hard paper copies of records maintained in hard paper only form (CP 215: 2);
- An agency is <u>only required</u> to use public resources to make hard paper copies of records maintained in electronic format needing redaction (CP 215: 1);
- The PRA authorizes agencies to outsource responses to requests for public records in electronic format to an outside vendor for fulfillment (CP 215: 3);
- An agency may charge a requester twenty-five cents per page or the actual cost, whichever is less, for records provided in electronic form (CP 218: 8);
- Scanning a redacted electronic record into electronic format is creating a new document which agencies are not required to do under the PRA (CP 218: 9);
- Scanning a paper copy into an electronic format is creating a new document which agencies are not required to do under the PRA (CP 218: 10);
- ❖ The Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (UDJA) (Chapter 7.24 RCW) is a standalone statute providing the Superior Court with the authority to enter a Declaratory Judgement (CP 214: FOF/COL 3); and
- ❖ A justiciable controversy exists under the PRA and the UDJA was properly invoked by Benton County (*Id*).

(CP 220-221). The Benton County Superior Court has made obvious error concerning both the strict mandatory requirements of the PRA in providing access to public records and use of agency equipment and staff as well as the requirements for Declaratory Judgment under the UDJA.

The Washington Public Records Act (PRA), is a strongly worded mandate of the people demanding that members of the public be given timely and prompt access to the "publics" records² in order for the people to remain in control over the instruments they created.³ Under the strongly worded mandate of the PRA all public agencies in Washington State must provide access to the public records owned, used, created or maintained by that specific public agency unless a specific exemption applies to the requested records even if disclosure of the record causes inconvenience.⁴ Public agencies cannot charge to locate and make the "public's records" available to the public; including redaction of the requested records.⁵ Once the records have been located, redacted (if authorized), and assembled, an agency cannot charge for the inspection of said records. Agencies must provide access to agency facilities to make

² RCW 42.56.080; RCW 42.56.100; RCW 42.56.520

³ RCW 42.56.030.

⁴ RCW 42.56.030. "[C]ourts shall take into account the policy of this chapter that free and open examination of public records is in the public interest, even though such examination may cause inconvenience or embarrassment to public officials or others." *Koenig v. Thurston County*, 175 Wn.2d 837, ¶9, 287 P.3d 523 (2012).

⁵ RCW 42.56.120

copies.⁶ Agencies <u>cannot charge for staff time</u> unless that staff time is directly related to copying the records. An agency <u>may charge a reasonable</u> <u>amount</u> for copy charge which <u>shall not</u> exceed the amount necessary to <u>reimburse the agency for the cost to copy records.⁷</u>

Agencies are to establish rules and regulations in harmony with the intent of the PRA to provide the "public's records" as expeditiously as possible while still protecting the "public's records" from disorganization and to prevent interference with other essential functions of the agency.⁸

Agency facilities shall be made available to any person for the copying of public records.⁹ An agency may charge a reasonable fee for providing copies of public records and for the use by any person of agency equipment.

Benton County initiate this action in the Benton County Superior

Court for a judicial determination that: "(a) the Public Records Act does

not mandate that a public agency create an electronic public record if it

does not possess the public record in electronic form; (b) the Public

Records Act does not mandate that a public agency create a second

⁶ RCW 42.56.120

⁷ RCW 42.56.120

⁸ RCW 42.56.100

⁹ RCW 42.56.080

electronic record with respect to an electronic record it possesses but which must be redacted under the terms of the Public Records Act; and (c) if a public agency chooses to or is obligated to create an electronic record, the Public Records Act allows the agency to hire a third party vendor to create and electronic record that must be redacted and to charge the requester the actual cost of creating an electronic record." (CP 1)(Complaint CP 1-8 and Summons CP 9-10).

The County's motion was granted by the trial court on October 10, 2014 (CP 215-219). It is the decisions, orders, and Declaratory Judgment entered by the Benton County Superior Court that this appeal arises.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1) Order Denying Motion to Dismiss Declaratory Relief

 Assignment of Errors of Trial Court's Decision and Order (CP 212-214)
 - a. Did the trial court err in denying Zink's "Motion To Dismiss Benton
 County's Complaint for Declaratory Relief, entered October 10,
 2014?" (CP 214: Order)
 - b. Does the evidence and argument submitted to the court (CP 212-213:
 1-14) support the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law that:
 - The record evidences an existing dispute between the parties regarding the County's rights and obligations under the Public Records Act (PRA)(CP 213: FOF 1);

- 2. Such dispute is not hypothetical and can be determined by declaratory judgment from this Court (CP 213: FOF 1); and
- 3. The County has a direct and substantial interest in the outcome of this dispute and the Court's ruling on the requested declarations? (CP 214: FOF 2)
- c. Does the trial court findings of fact (FOF) lead to the reasonable conclusion that a justifiable controversy exists providing and the trial court jurisdiction under RCW 7.24 has properly been invoked? (CP 214: COL 3)
- d. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Zink's
 Motion to Dismiss Benton County's Complaint for
 Declaratory Relief? (CP 214: Order 1)

2) Order Granting Summary Judgment and Declaratory Relief Assignment of Errors of Trial Court's Decision and Order (CP 215-219)

- a. Did the trial court err in granting Benton County's "Motion for Summary Judgment and Declaratory Relief, under RCW 7.24.010, entered October 10, 2014?" (CP 218-219: Order 1 & 2).
- Did the evidence and argument presented by the parties to the court (CP 216-217: 1-16) provide relevant and factual evidence supporting the court's findings of fact and conclusions of law? (CP 217-218: FOF/COL 1-11);
- c. Does the evidence and argument submitted to the court support the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law that:

- There is an existing dispute between the parties regarding County's authority and obligations under the PRA (CP 217: FOF/COL 1);
- 2. The dispute between the parties is not hypothetical and can be determined by declaratory judgment issued by this Court (CP 117: FOF/COL 1);
- A justiciable controversy exists, and this Court's jurisdiction under RCW 7.24 has properly been invoked (CP 217; FOF/COL 2);
- 4. No other parties are necessary or indispensable parties to this action (CP 217: FOF/COL 3);
- 5. There are not disputed facts material to the issue of whether Benton County is authorized under the PRA to have scanning services performed by a third party and charge Ms. Zink the actual reasonable cost thereof (CP 217: FOF/COL 4);
- Benton County obtained quotes from three vendors as to the cost of scanning services, and a charge of 25 cents per page was the lowest price quoted and is reasonable (CP 218: FOF/COL 5);
- 7. The Public Records Officer for the Benton County Prosecutor's Office does not have software on her computer to enable her to electronically redact any of the documents responsive to her request (CP 218: FOF/COL 6);

- 8. To provide Ms. Zink with electronic versions of responsive documents that it possesses in paper form only or that it possesses in electronic format that must be redacted, the Prosecutor's Public Records Officer would need to create additional public records (CP 218: FOF/COL 7);
- The PRA does not require that agencies perform copying or scanning with agency personnel, and it allows agencies to recover the actual cost of the charges services imposed by a vendor (CP 218: FOF/COL 8);
- 10. The PRA does not obligate agencies to duplicate their efforts and create new electronic documents from electronic records that must be redacted (CP 218: FOF/COL 9);
- The PRA does not obligate agencies to create new electronic records from records it holds in paper only form (CP 218: FOF/COL 218 10); and
- 12. Benton County is entitled, as a matter of law, to the Declaratory Relief it seeks (CP 218: FOF/COL 11)?
- d. Do the findings of fact and conclusions of law support the trial courts order granting Benton County's Motion for Summary Judgment; and
- e. Do the finding of fact and conclusion of law support the trial courts order for Declaratory Judgement in favor of Benton County? CP 218: Order 2)

3) Declaratory Judgment Regarding Benton County's Authority and Obligations Under the Public Records Act

Assignment of Errors of Trial Court's Declaration of Legal Authority and Obligations Pursuant to the PRA (CP 220-221)

- a. Did the trial court err and abuse its discretion in making the following Judicial Declarations concerning the PRA and an agencies obligations to provide electronic copies of public records to a member of the public (CP 220):
 - 1) Washington's Public Records Act (PRA), Chapter 42.56 RCW, allows Benton County to hire a third party vendor to create electronic records from records it possess only in paper form and to charge Ms. Zink twenty-five cents per page or the actual cost, whichever is less, to have such electronic records created if she requests responsive documents be provided in electronic form (CP 220: Declaration 1);
 - 2) Washington's Public Records Act (PRA), Chapter 42.56 RCW, allows Benton County to hire a third party vendor to create electronic records from electronic records that must be redacted and to charge Ms. Zink twenty-five cents per page or the actual cost, whichever is less, to have such electronic records created if she requests responsive documents be provided in electronic form (CP 220: Declaration 1);
 - 3) Washington's Public Records Act (PRA), Chapter 42.56 RCW, does not obligate the County to use agency resources (pay someone) to create electronic documents retained in paper only form (CP 220: Declaration 2); and

4) Washington's Public Records Act (PRA), Chapter 42.56 RCW, does not require a public agency to use agency resourced (pay someone) to create additional electronic records retained in electronic form, but that it appropriately redacts under the terms of the PRA (CP 221: Declaration 3)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 30 2013, Ms. Zink sent a PRA request to Benton County to review or and/or copy all SSOSA forms as well as all victim impact statements filed and maintained anywhere in Benton County (CP 180).

Benton County responded on September 20, 2013, that the first installment of requested records would be available on October 4, 2013 for review. (CP 73: Bottom e-mail).

On September 20, 2013, Ms. Zink contacted Benton County and requested to know the cost charged for scanning the documents and sending them electronically via e-mail. (CP 73 & 95 - top e-mails). Benton County responded that the documents are not in electronic format and Ms. Zink can review the records in the Prosecutor's office. (CP 95 - bottom e-mail).

On September 24, 2013, Benton County clarified that the requested records were in paper only form and required substantial redactions. Benton County stated that they would not scan documents and provide them in electronic format because the County did not have the resources to provide the records in the format requested. Benton County stated that they would

send the requested paper documents to Staples and have them scanned at the rate of \$.25/page (CP 97; CP 109 – bottom e-mail).

Ms. Zink agreed to pick up and pay for the paper copies on October 4, 2013 (CP 99). Upon review of over 100 pages of the requested records released in paper form only it was discovered that the records were created using a computer and therefore existed in electronic format. (CP 79 – top e-mail; 101 – bottom e-mail).

On November 23, 2013, Ms. Zink contacted Benton County to request the records be produced in electronic format as originally requested (CP 79 – top e-mail; 101 – bottom e-mail.).

On November 25, 2013, Benton County responded stating that only a small portion of the SSOSA evaluations are kept in electronic format and those needed to be redacted. Benton County refused to scan any document without use of an outside vendor. (CP 81; CP 83 bottom e-mail; CP 101 – top e-mail).

The communication continued between the two parties with Benton County claiming no requirement to use agency resources to produce copies of documents in electronic format due to paper only and redaction and Ms. Zink insisting that the records were being wrongfully withheld by Benton County (CP 83; 85; 87 & 89).

On December 30, 2013, Ms. Zink informed Benton County that her request was for copies in electronic format only. (CP 103 – bottom e-mail). Benton County responded that they would be sending the records to an outside vendor and would bill her prior to e-mailing the requested records (CP 103 – top e-mail; 105 bottom e-mail). Ms. Zink responded that she had not requested use of an outside vendor and did not recommend Benton County incur a cost she did not authorize. (CP 105 – top e-mail).

On January 8, 2014, Benton County notified Ms. Zink that they had made paper only copies of the requested records and provided her with an exemption log listing the redactions made (CP 107-109).

On January 28, 2014, Benton County filed a Complaint for Declaratory Relief requesting the Benton County Superior Court to enter declaratory judgment ordering that:

- a. The Public Records Act does not mandate that a public agency create an electronic public record if it does not possess the public record in electronic form;
- b. The Public Records Act does not mandate that a public agency create a second electronic record with respect to an electronic record it possesses but which must be redacted under the terms of the Public Records Act; and
- c. If a public agency chooses to or is obligated to create an electronic record, the Public Records Act allows the agency to hire a third party

vendor to create and electronic record that must be redacted and to charge the requester the actual cost of creating an electronic record."

(CP 1)(Complaint CP 1-8 and Summons CP 9-10).

On February 19, 2014, Ms. Zink filed an answer (CP 11-21) and requested the trial court to enter a declaratory judgment declaring that:

- a. Benton County provide the requested documents in electronic format using the County's scanning equipment;
- Benton County use the electronic redaction software owned by Benton County;
- Making a pdf copy using a scanner is not making a new electronic record and is no different from a paper copy except no ink or paper is used;
- d. Benton County must use its own scanning equipment rather than an outside vendor which will unreasonably increase costs and staff time;
- e. Benton County may charge a reasonable fee to provide scanned copies which should be no more than making paper copies;
- f. An award of expenses and costs pursuant to the PRA;
- g. Per diem penalties for wrongful withholding of public records;
- h. Permission to amend pleadings to include additional claims, show cause motions, or additional parties; and
- i. Any other relief that is just and equitable.

(CP 19-20). On March 3, 2014, Benton County motioned the trial court to order Ms. Zink to furnish a more definite statement based on the fact that the

paragraph numbers did not match (compare CP 11-21 to CP 29-35) and Ms. Zink had requested costs, fees, and penalties without paying the filing fee (CP 22-28).

On March 28, 2014, the trial court ordered Ms. Zink to either strike her request for fees, costs, and penalties or pay the filing fee required for a counterclaim (CP 36-37).

On March 28, 2014, Ms. Zink submitted a revised Answer (CP 29-35). Benton County objected to the inclusion of the words "including mandatory penalties." (CP 35).

On April 4, 2014, Ms. Zink submitted a 2nd revised Answer and Pray for Relief (CP 38-44) omitting the words "including mandatory penalties." (CP 44).

On approximately July 8, 2014 (CP 208), Benton County responded to Ms. Zink's first set of interrogatories (CP 182-207). In their answers Benton County stated that:

- a. The Benton County Sheriff's office has sixty-four (64) printers, twenty-six (26) scanners, four (4) scanner/copiers, three (3) scanners/copiers/faxes, four (4) fax machines and seventeen (17) licenses to fax electronic documents from a computer (CP 191).
- b. The Benton County Prosecuting Attorney's Office (excluding the Division of Child Support) has two (2) scanners, three (3) facsimile machines, eight (8) printers, three (3) fax/scanner/printer devices, one

- (1) copier/printer and one (1) license to fax electronic documents from a computer (CP 192).
- c. Further, Benton County stated that there are fifty-nine (59) County employees with the ability to redact electronic documents including one (1) staff member in the Prosser Office. (CP 193).
- d. Benton County stated documents have been scanned into an electronic format in response to a request for an electronic copy of public records (CP 196; CP 198),
- e. A request for public records has never been sent to an outside vendor to convert paper copies to electronic copies in the past (CP 197; CP 198),
- f. Copy fees have been waived for requests for public records (CP 199); and
- g. Different technologies are used to scan and convert a document as compared to faxing a document (CP 202).

On September 9, 2014, Benton County motioned the trial court for summary judgment and declaratory relief (CP 45-49; CP 50-67).

On September 29, 2014, Ms. Zink motioned the trial court to dismiss for lack of standing (CP 136-140).

On October 10, 2014, both motions were heard in the trial court (RP (October 10, 2014) 1-56). The trial court denied Ms. Zink's motion to dismiss for lack of standing (CP 212-214) and granted Benton County's

motion for summary judgment and declaratory relief (CP 215-219); declaring that the PRA:

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