JUN 0 8 2015

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

NO. 32912-7-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BENTON COUNTY

V,

DONNA ZINK

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR BENTON COUNTY

NO. 14-2-00341-0

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ANDY MILLER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

Ryan K. Brown, Chief Deputy Prosecuting Attorney BAR NO. 19837 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place Bldg. A Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-3591

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

⁷ Responsive documents held in electronic format by the County that do not need to be redacted are e-mailed to Zink in electronic format free of charge. See CP 120 (¶6).

10B Wright, Miller & Kane, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE: CIVIL \$2751 at 456-57 (3d ed. 1998) (emphasis added) (footnotes omitted). Consequently, courts do not hesitate to issue a declaratory judgment if "one or both parties have taken steps or pursued a course of conduct which will result in 'imminent' and 'inevitable' litigation" *Id.* §2757 at 486 (quoting *Bruhn v. STP Corp.*, 312 F. Supp. 903, 906 (D. Colo. 1970)). In other words, "a declaratory judgment should be proper if it is reasonably certain that coercive litigation will ultimately take place between the parties unless a declaration is given. This generalization is seldom expressed by the courts, but may be arrived at by a consideration of [Washington] cases" 15 Orland & Tegland, WASHINGTON PRACTICE, §42:4 at 397 (1996) (footnotes omitted).

The importance of this form of relief is emphasized by the legislature's adoption of RCW 7.24.120, which states, "[t]his chapter is declared to be remedial; its purpose is to settle and to afford relief from uncertainty and insecurity with respect to rights, status and other legal relations; and is to be liberally construed and administered." (Emphasis added).

Ms. Zink's position seems to be that the County cannot seek a declaratory judgment because she has not sued the County, so the County

has no rights or interests at stake at this time. See Br. Appellant at 36-37; 40-41. Such an argument is completely contrary to and would undermine the very purpose of the Declaratory Judgments Act, which is to allow uncertainties to be resolved and avoid prejudices that frequently accompany an otherwise inherent delay in the adjudication of a party's rights. See E. Edelmann & Co. v. Triple-A Specialty Co., 88 F.2d 852, 854 (8th Cir.), cert. den., 300 U.S. 680 (1987) (intent of federal Declaratory Judgment Act to avoid accrual of actual damages to one not certain of his or her rights by allowing him or her to bring suit before his or her adversary does and therefore avoid damages).

The prejudice to be avoided in this case by a declaratory judgment is obvious. If Ms. Zink waits to file suit until the records request is completed years from now, then the potential penalties accruing under the PRA would be greatly increased given that such penalties are imposed on a per day basis. See RCW 42.56.550(6) (action must be filed only within one year of last production); RCW 42.56.550(4) (penalties may not exceed one hundred dollars for each day record denied). Such a situation is exactly type for which the declaratory judgment cause of action exists. The purpose of a declaratory judgment is "to afford one threatened with liability an early adjudication without waiting until an adversary should see fit to begin an action after the damage has accrued." 10B Wright,

Miller & Kane, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE: CIVIL §2751 at 456-57 (3d ed. 1998) (emphasis added) (footnote omitted).

2. Ms. Zink Refuses to Accept that RCW 7.24.010 and .020 Create an Independent Cause of Action.

Ms. Zink repeats the argument she made to the trial court, which is that a declaratory judgment is inappropriate because the County did not identify a statutory cause of action separate and apart from chapter 7.24 RCW. Br. Appellant at 33, 35-36. More precisely, she appears to believe that a declaratory judgment regarding the PRA is inappropriate unless a provision within the PRA itself affords a cause of action. Importantly, she cites no authority to support that belief.

The language of RCW 7.24.020 plainly grant persons whose rights are affected by a statute the right to seek a declaratory judgment, and RCW 7.24.010 plainly authorizes courts to declare rights and legal relations "whether or not further relief is or could be claimed." Furthermore, the Washington Supreme Court expressly rejected Ms. Zink's argument when it held that, "[o]f course, no additional private right of action is necessary for parties to seek declaratory judgment whenever their rights are affected by a statute." *Nelson v. Appleway Chevrolet, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 173, 187, 157 P.2d 847 (2007) (characterizing as "dubious" an argument that a separate private right of action is necessary); *see also*,

Edelmann, 88 F.2d at 854 (declaratory judgment "statute extended greatly the situations under which relief may be claimed").

Ms. Zink has never presented any authority for her assertion that a separate cause of action is a prerequisite to a declaratory judgment, and her assertion is simply inaccurate.

B. THE COUNTY HAD STANDING TO BRING THIS DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION.

Washington courts require that there be a "justiciable controversy" in order to invoke the court's jurisdiction to issue a declaratory judgment. *To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins*, 144 Wn.2d 403, 411, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001), *cert. den.*, 535 U.S. 931 (2002). The four elements of a justiciable controversy are:

"(1) . . . an actual, present and existing dispute, or the mature seeds of one, as distinguished from a possible, dormant, hypothetical, speculative, or moot disagreement, (2) between parties having genuine and opposing interests, (3) which involves interests that must be direct and substantial, rather than potential, theoretical, abstract or academic, and (4) a judicial determination of which will be final and conclusive."

To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins, 144 Wn.2d at 411 (quoting Diversified Indus. Dev. Corp. v. Ripley, 82 Wn.2d 811, 815, 514 P.2d 137 (1973)) (emphasis added). Inherent in these four elements are the notions of standing, mootness and ripeness. To-Ro, 144 Wn.2d at 411. The "third

justiciability requirement of a direct, substantial interest in the dispute encompasses the doctrine of standing." *Id.* at 414.

Ms. Zink questions whether the County has standing, but does not argue any other elements of a justiciable controversy are lacking. See Br. Appellant at 35, 44. Washington courts have described the concept of standing in varying ways. The case cited by Ms. Zink expresses the test for standing as a requirement that the interests at issue must "arguably [be] within the zone of interests to be protected or regulated by the statute..." and the dispute causing "'injury in fact,' economic or otherwise, to the party seeking standing." Grant Cnty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 3 v. Moses Lake, 150 Wn.2d 791, 802, 83 P.3d 419 (2004) (quoting Save a Valuable Env't v. City of Bothell, 89 Wn.2d 862, 866, 576 P.2d 401 (1978)). The Court in *To-Ro* used both the "direct, substantial interest" and the "zone of interest" standing tests, indicating they are simply different ways of substantiating that a party should be allowed to bring a lawsuit. See To-Ro, 144 Wn.2d at 414. Yet another Washington court has expressed the doctrine of standing simply as requiring "that a claimant must have a personal stake in the outcome of a case in order to bring suit." Kleven v. City of Des Moines, 111 Wn. App. 284, 290, 44 P.3d 887 (2002). The County has standing, whichever way the test is articulated.

Direct and Substantial Interest. It is difficult to imagine how one could argue that the County does not have a direct and substantial interest in this dispute with Ms. Zink regarding the interpretation of the PRA and the County's rights and obligations thereunder. If the Court affirms the declaratory judgment issued by the trial court, then the County will not need to expend additional resources, will be deemed to have complied with the PRA, and will not be subject to monetary penalties for refusing to create electronic records for her. If the Court agrees with Ms. Zink's interpretation of the County's rights and obligations under the PRA, then Zink will assert that County has violated the PRA and will request penalties.

In a similar case where a county sought a declaratory judgment asking that its duties under a statute be adjudicated, Whatcom County was held to have standing in *Whatcom Cnty. v. State of Washington*, 99 Wn. App. 237, 993 P.2d 273 (2000). In that case, that county sought a declaration that RCW 4.96.060 and .070 obligated the State and not the county to defend a civil rights action against a deputy prosecuting attorney and to indemnify the deputy for any damages. *Id.* at 240. The State argued that the county did not have standing to bring the action, but the Court disagreed. "[I]f the State [did] not defend and indemnify [the deputy], the County [would] be forced to do so." *Id.* at 241. The county's

financial interest that was contingent upon the interpretation of those statutes was held "sufficient to confer standing." *Id*.

Just as Whatcom County had a direct and substantial interest in the interpretation of the statutes at issue, Benton County has a direct and substantial interest in whether the PRA requires it to expend County resources to create electronic records and whether it may be subject to monetary penalties of potentially thousands or tens of thousands of dollars if it has incorrectly interpreted the PRA as Ms. Zink claims.

The County's Interests are Within the Zone of Interests Regulated by the PRA, and the County Will Likely Face Economic Injury if Its Interpretation is Incorrect. Ms. Zink prefers the standing test articulated in the *Grant County* case. Br. Appellant at 33. She phrases the "zone of interest" prong of that test as requiring that the County's interest be an interest "protected" by the law in question and argues that the County is not within the "zone of interest" of any statute. Br. Appellant at 34-35. She is wrong on both counts.

First, Ms. Zink fails to inform the Court that the County's interest must be one that is "arguably within the zone of interests protected or regulated" by a statute. *To-Ro*, 144 Wn.2d at 414 (quoting *Ass'n of Data Processing Serv. Organizations, Inc. v. Camp*, 397 U.S. 150, 153, 90 S. Ct. 827, 25 L. Ed. 2d 184 (1970)) (emphasis added). Second, the PRA

certainly regulates how the County must expend its resources and respond to requests for records. Consequently, courts do entertain declaratory judgment actions brought by public agencies regarding their obligations under the PRA. See, e.g., Washington State Dept. of Transp. v. Mendoza de Sugiyama, 182 Wn. App. 588, 330 P.3d 209 (2014) (declaratory judgment action regarding determination of whether records subject to protective order were exempt from disclosure under the PRA); cf. United States v. Story Cnty, 28 F. Supp.3d 861 (S.D. Iowa 2014) (United States obtained order declaring that records at issue were federal records exempted from disclosure requirements of Freedom of Information Act).

Benton County's interest in a declaration that it is not required by the PRA to create additional records, that if it elects to do so the PRA does not require that the County use its own staff and facilities, and that RCW 42.56.120 allows it to recover the actual cost charged by a third party to create the new records, are all interests certainly within the zone of interests regulated by the PRA.

Ms. Zink also argues that the County fails the "injury" component of standing set forth in the *Grant County* case. Br. Appellant at 40-41. She appears to believe that an injury must have already been occurred in order to have standing. *Id.* at 40. However, the sole case upon which her argument is based refutes that premise. In that case, the Court held that

property owners had standing to challenge an annexation because they would face higher tax rates if the annexation were upheld. *Grant Cnty.*, 145 Wn.2d at 714. Under Ms. Zink's reasoning, the property owners would not have had standing unless they had already paid a property tax bill, but there is no mention of that fact by the Court.

The Court in *Grant County* stated it "is axiomatic that parties whose financial interests are affected by an action have suffered injury." Id. at 713; see also, Am. States Ins. Co. v. Breesnee, 49 Wn. App. 642, 645-46, 745 P.2d 518 (1987) (uninsured motorist carrier had standing to challenge trial court declaration that another insurer did not have to provide coverage, despite no apparent payment at time of suit by uninsured carrier). Furthermore, the Washington Supreme Court has held that a threat to public safety posed by expanded liquor sales under I-1183 is a sufficient likely injury to confer standing. City of Burlington v. Liquor Control Bd., No. 72438-0, slip. op. at 17 (Wash. Ct. App. May 26, 2015) (citing Washington Ass'n for Substance Abuse & Violence Prevention v. State of Washington, 174 Wn.2d 642, 278 P.3d 632 (2012)); see also, Edelmann, 88 F.2d at 854 (appropriate for alleged infringer of patent to bring declaratory judgment action against patent holder accusing it of patent infringement).

As these cases demonstrate, a party need not have already incurred an injury to have standing. It is sufficient that an adverse interpretation of the statute at issue would likely cause an injury. To require otherwise, as Ms. Zink insists, would mean that potential defendants in a dispute could not seek declaratory judgments until potential plaintiffs filed and successfully litigated the dispute. Such an interpretation would severely undercut the utility of declaratory judgments and is erroneous. See, e.g., 10B Wright, Miller & Kane, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE: CIVIL \$2751 at 457 (3d ed. 1998) (declaratory judgments are "intended . . . to afford one threatened with liability an early adjudication"); Washington State Dept. of Transp., 182 Wn. App. 588 (state agency brought declaratory judgment regarding its obligations under the PRA before any penalties were sought).

In this case, Ms. Zink demands that the County utilize its staff and its facilities to create thousands of pages of electronic records for her without charge. Br. Appellant at 22-23. Ms. Zink has clearly stated her intent to seek penalties for the County's alleged violation of the PRA if the Court disagrees with the County's understanding of its rights and obligations under the law. She already attempted to seek penalties in this very action, but withdrew that request for relief when ordered to pay a filing fee in order to assert a counterclaim. CP 37; CP 43-44. Instead, she

stated that she will "just file a motion for penalties if [she] win[s]." CP 162. Thus, the County's financial interests are affected by this dispute. There can be no doubt that absent a favorable declaratory judgment, the County will have to utilize additional resources to respond to the request and will be exposed to a claim for damages. The County has standing to bring this action.

In Accord with *Kleven*, the County Certainly has a Stake in the Outcome of this Action. The simplest yet clearest test for standing is expressed in *Kleven*, which simply asks if the party seeking a declaratory judgment has a personal stake in the outcome. *Kleven*, 111 Wn. App. at 290. The County certainly has a stake in the outcome of this action and has standing under the *Kleven* test.

- C. ZINK RAISES TWO ARGUMENTS ON APPEAL REGARDING THE PRA THAT WERE NEVER PRESENTED TO THE TRIAL COURT AND SHOULD NOT BE CONSIDERED ON APPEAL.
 - 1. New Arguments and Theories Should Not Be Considered By the Court of Appeals.

It has long been the rule that an "issue, theory or argument not presented at trial will not be considered on appeal." *Herberg v. Swartz*, 89 Wn.2d 916, 925, 578 P.2d 17 (1978) (citing *Boeing v. State*, 89 Wn.2d 443, 450-51, 572 P.2d 8 (1978)); *see also, State v. Riley*, 121 Wn.2d 22, 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993) (refusing to consider argument against

admission of confession based on alleged Fourth Amendment violation, because argument to trial court was based on Fifth Amendment); RAP 2.5; and RAP 9.12. The rationale for refusing to hear arguments not presented to a trial court is that trial courts should have an opportunity to avoid or correct errors and avoid unnecessary appeals. *See, e.g., State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988) (RAP 2.5 reflects policy of encouraging efficient use of judicial resources); *Smith v. Shannon*, 100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983).

2. Ms. Zink Never Provided Any Argument to the Trial Court, in Any Form, Regarding RCW 42.56.070 or .080.

In response to the County's motion for summary judgment, Ms. Zink moved to dismiss and submitted a memorandum arguing that the County lacked standing to seek a declaratory judgment. CP 130-40. She did not present any written argument regarding the requirements of the PRA. *Id*; *see also* RP at 47 ("I put all my baskets in my standing [argument]"). She did inappropriately present minimal argument citing RCW 42.56.100 and .120 in her reply brief in support of her motion to dismiss for lack of standing. *See* CP 171-73; RP at 28; *Molloy v. City of Bellevue*, 71 Wn. App. 382, 385, 859 P.2d 613 (1993) (reply briefs are limited to explaining, disproving or contradicting the non-moving party's evidence or arguments). She also presented limited oral argument

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